

Custodial Operations Policy and Procedures

10.1 Visits to inmates by family and friends

Policy summary

Corrective Services NSW (CSNSW) recognises the value of visits between inmates and their families and friends, the importance of maintaining significant relationships, and the need to facilitate contact within the security confines of the correctional system.

Visitors to inmates in correctional centres will be required to provide appropriate and sufficient forms of identification prior to the verification of their provisional Visitor Identification Number (VIN).

Management of Public Correctional Centres Service Specifications

Service specifications	Decency and respect
	Rehabilitation and reintegration

Scope

This section applies to all correctional centres and other facilities administered by or on behalf of CSNSW.

It also applies to all CSNSW employees, and where relevant to other personnel such as, Justice Health & Forensic Mental Health Network (JH&FMHN), contractors, subcontractors, and visitors.

Table of contents

1	Visits to inmates by family and friends		
	1.1	Policy	4
2	lde	ntification requirements	5
	2.1	Initial identification requirements	5
	2.2	Allocation of VIN	6
	2.3	Biometric identification device	6
	2.4	Subsequent and ongoing identification	6
	2.5	Visitor information forms	7
	2.6	Removal of face-covering	7
	2.7	Procedures for visits to correctional centres	8
3	Coi	nditions for visits	9
	3.1	Use of toilet facilities by visitors in maximum and medium security centres	9
	3.2	Visitor's medication	9
	3.3	Procedures for special medical consideration	10
	3.4	Visiting hours and duration	10
	3.5	Clothing worn by inmates	11
	3.6	Dress standards for visitors	11
	3.7	Procedures for visitors arriving in inappropriate dress	12
	3.8	Disposal of food following visits	12
4	Vis	its to inmates in police or court cells	12
	4.1	Policy	12
	4.2	Procedures	13
5	Qui	ick links	14
6	Def	initions	14
7	Do	cument information	15

1 Visits to inmates by family and friends

1.1 Policy

An unsentenced inmate may receive one visit on reception, and thereafter they may be visited twice weekly. Sentenced inmates may receive a visit, and then as often as the Governor of the correctional centre determines.

Visits and visit procedures are approved by the Governor of the correctional centre and subject to appropriate staffing arrangements, suitable facilities and security considerations.

The following criteria apply to inmate visits:

- Only visitors with appropriate identification will be permitted to enter the visits section of a correctional centre, for the purpose of visiting with an inmate.
- If a person is under 18 years of age, they may visit an inmate only if they are accompanied by a responsible adult.
- A visitor may not visit more than one inmate at a time except where the Governor of the correctional centre gives approval.
- A CSNSW custodial officer may require a visitor to submit to a search in accordance with COPP section 17.3 Stop, detain and search of visitors and staff
- An inmate may refuse to receive a visitor (other than a government official engaged in official duties).
- All maximum and medium security inmates must be body scanned (where practicable) or strip-searched, and minimum security inmates may be randomly body scanned or strip-searched, after each visit (refer to COPP section 17.1 Searching inmates and 7.3 Searching female inmates).
- Under special circumstances, and on the recommendation of a Services and Programs Officer (SAPO), an extra contact visit between an inmate and a family member or friend may be arranged subject to the Governor's approval. Such contact visits are additional to normal entitlements.
- A person who requires to be accompanied by an assistance animal eg: guide dog, is permitted to enter a correctional centre with the assistance animal for the purpose of a visit to an inmate or any other type of visit outlined in COPP section 10 Visits to correctional centres and the Disability Discrimination Act 1992.

For information on visits to inmates who are designated Extreme High Security (EHS), Extreme High Risk Restricted (EHRR), National Security Interest (NSI), AA and Category 5 (refer to COPP section 3.5 HS, EHS, EHRR, NSI, AA and Cat 5).

2 Identification requirements

2.1 Initial identification requirements

To prove their identity to CSNSW, an adult visitor needs to provide either:

- one proof of identity document from List 1 below; or
- three documents from List 2, one of which shows the person's image and one which shows their current residential address.

List 1

One of the following primary forms of identification:

- a current photo driver licence issued by any State or Territory of Australia, or a NSW Digital Driver Licence
- a Photo Card issued by Service NSW

List 2

Three of the following secondary forms of identification, one of which shows the person's image and one which shows their current residential address:

- A current passport or one that has expired within two years
- Any current photo identification issued by a Government Department or Authority.
- Original or extract of a birth certificate
- Photo employee identification card
- Electoral roll enrolment card or other evidence of enrolment
- Public utility record issued within six months of the date of intended visit e.g. a telephone, gas or electricity bill, water rates, council rates or land valuation notice
- Current vehicle or boat registration papers
- Marriage certificate or change of name certificate
- MIN Card
- Australian naturalisation or citizenship document or immigration papers issued by the Commonwealth
- Current entitlement card issued by an Australian Federal or State Government Department or Authority (i.e. Medicare, pensioner's card)
- Union / Professional membership card
- Reference from Indigenous Organisation
- · Credit or debit card with the holder's signature
- Current student identification card
- Youth Justice identification

If a visitor can't produce the appropriate forms of identification, the Governor (delegate) of the correctional centre may permit the person to visit an inmate. In this case, it would be appropriate to facilitate a non-contact box visit. The visit should be a one-off occurrence with the proviso that the appropriate forms of identification be produced at any subsequent visit.

Proof of identification for a child visitor is not required. However, where the responsible accompanying adult is able to provide identification with respect to the child visitor's age, details of the proof of identification document must be recorded on the visitor form.

2.2 Allocation of VIN

When making a booking for the first time, an adult visitor will be allocated a provisional VIN, provided they cite a suitable form of identification. On the initial occasion that the person visits an inmate in custody, the document(s) cited must be produced before the VIN can be verified.

A VIN must not be verified unless the officer is satisfied as to the person's identification (see 2.1 initial identification requirements), their place of residence and that they have a valid reason for their visit to the correctional centre.

2.3 Biometric identification device

Where a Biometric Identification Device (BID) is installed, each adult visitor's fingerprints and image will be recorded.

If the visitor has previously satisfied the initial identification requirements and subsequently received a VIN but has not had their fingerprint template and image captured on a BID, there is no need for the initial process of identification to be repeated unless the officer enrolling the visitor on the BID cannot be satisfied as to the identity of the person claiming the VIN.

In these circumstances, the officer must satisfy themself as to the identity of the VIN holder by referring to the identification details recorded in OIMS at the time the VIN was issued. Enrolment on the BID will require the visitor to remove any face covering (refer to subsection **2.6 Removal of face-covering** of this policy).

Child visitors are not to be enrolled into the BID, unless:

- the child visitor has previously been the subject of a direction by the Commissioner under clause 108, or
- the child visitor has been convicted of an offence in relation to a previous visit to a correctional centre
- the OIC of the visits area is of the opinion that the child visitor's physical appearance is similar to that of an inmate of the centre.

2.4 Subsequent and ongoing identification

The identification of a visitor at any subsequent visit can be via the production of a primary/secondary form of identification or via a BID.

Where the visitor's fingerprint template and image are stored in the BID, a visitor will not need to produce any identification to secure a visit. The visitor will need to complete a *Visitor information* form and give it to the visits officer to have their details verified against the BID database. Any visitor who enters via BID verification must also pass through the BID prior to leaving so that their identity is verified again.

As the BID and the OIMS are not linked, officers working in the visits area must verify the visitor's details in OIMS to ensure that prohibited or restricted visitors are identified. All forms of identification and/or proof of residential address must be the same as those recorded for the visitor in OIMS.

Where a BID is not installed, the identification required for any subsequent visit will be:

- one primary form of identification or the ability to verify the residential address recorded on the OIMS, or
- one secondary form of identification with a current residential address, which must match the one recorded on the OIMS.

Verification of the visitor's identity may require the visitor to remove any face covering (refer to subsection **2.6 Removal of face-covering** of this policy).

2.5 Visitor information forms

Officers working in visits areas are to check that:

- all visitors record their personal information correctly on the *Visitor information* form
- all visitors present acceptable forms of identification with the visitor information form. These details will be entered into the OIMS on the initial occasion that the visitor attends a correctional centre to visit an inmate. On subsequent visits the details provided in the *Visitor information* form will be verified with data in OIMS
- information relating to a child visitor, e.g. name, age, gender and relationship to the inmate are correctly recorded on the *Visitor information* form
- there is nothing noted in OIMS preventing the child from visiting the inmate.

Visitor information forms must be retained at the correctional centre as they may be required in the event of legal proceedings.

If a visitor's name or residential address changes, the visitor's record on the OIMS is to be amended accordingly. Staff should not create either a new VIN or record. The previous details will be recorded as history under the current VIN.

Proof of the change of details must be sighted prior to amendment in OIMS. Visitors should be informed that identification required for further visits must correspond with the new details recorded in OIMS.

2.6 Removal of face-covering

A visitor may be required to remove face covering to verify the identity of the person on both entering and exiting the correctional centre.

For the purposes of this policy, 'face' means a person's face from the top of the forehead to the bottom of the chin, and between (but not including) the ears.

A face covering means any item of clothing, helmet, mask or any other thing that is worn by a person and prevents the person's face from being seen (whether wholly or partly).

Requests for visitors to remove face coverings worn for religious reasons must be carried out in a sensitive manner and in accordance with the following procedures:

The correctional officer must:

- ask for the visitor's cooperation and explain why it is necessary to view their face
- carry out the viewing in a way that affords reasonable privacy for the visitor (e.g. use an adjoining office area) if the visitor requests privacy
- conduct the viewing as quickly as is reasonably practicable
- if the visitor requests it, arrange for the visitor's face to be viewed by an officer
 of the same sex as the visitor or, if an officer of the same sex is not available,
 by another person of that sex at the direction of the correctional officer.

It is only necessary for the visitor to remove so much of the face covering that prevents their face from being seen.

If the visitor wearing a face covering is under 12 years of age, they may be asked to remove their face covering only if a person responsible for the child is present during the viewing. The viewing should be carried out by a female correctional officer if the responsible person requests it and, if a female correctional officer is not available, a female person at the direction of the correctional officer.

It is not an offence to refuse to remove a face covering when requested to do so by a correctional officer. Failure to do so may result in the visitor not be admitted to the correctional centre due to an inability to verify their identity. Refusals to remove a face covering should be referred to the Governor, Manager of Security (MOS) or Functional Manager (FM) to determine if a visit will proceed.

If the Governor, MOS or FM decides to refuse the visit or to vary a contact visit to a non-contact box visit, they must report the incident in OIMS in the *Incident Reporting Module* (IRM) under *Miscellaneous Incident*.

A person refused a visit under such circumstances may appeal in writing to the Governor if they have special justification for not removing a face covering, such as a legitimate medical reason.

2.7 Procedures for visits to correctional centres

	Procedure	Responsibility
1.	Ensure that a Local Operating Procedure (LOP) is in place for inmates to be brought to the visiting section at the allotted time (refer to COPP section 21.8 Local operating procedures).	
2.	Check that the visitor's identity (through an approved form of identification or the BID system) and provide a visitor identification form.	Authorised officer
3.	Check OIMS to ensure the visitor is entered in the OIMS and has a registered VIN. If not, create one.	Authorised officer
4.	Check any OIMS alerts and restrictions to confirm the visit may proceed, including any restrictions on child visitors.	Authorised officer
5 .	Process the visit in OIMS in the appropriate format. Authorised office	

	Procedure	Responsibility
6.	Process visit as per the LOP and the security classification of the inmate.	Authorised officer
7.	Scan or search and return inmate to their accommodation unit at the completion of the visit, as per policy and any LOP.	Authorised officer
8.	Positively identify the visitor at the completion of the visit before allowing them to exit the facility.	Authorised officer

3 Conditions for visits

3.1 Use of toilet facilities by visitors in maximum and medium security centres

Visitors are not permitted to use toilet facilities during visits to inmates in medium and maximum security correctional centres. If visitors must leave the visits area to use the toilet, the visit is terminated.

Visitors to medium and maximum security correctional centres who need access to toilet facilities for medical reasons are required to complete an *Application for special medical consideration*, and produce a medical certificate in support of their application.

This special consideration may also be for the purpose of taking medication (refer to subsection *3.2 Visitor's medication* of this policy). Where an application for special medical consideration to use toilet facilities is approved, visitors are permitted to continue the visit following use of toilet facilities, provided they are re-screened prior to re-entry into the visit area. Correctional centres are required to review all approved applications annually.

If children need to use toilet facilities during a visit (in medium and maximum security correctional centres) and need to be accompanied by an adult visitor, the visit may be continued after re-screening prior to re-entry into the visiting facility. In such cases, the visitors should be given priority to re-enter the visits area, time permitting.

3.2 Visitor's medication

A visitor must submit an *Application for special medical consideration* if they have a medical condition that requires them to take medication during the visit. The application must be accompanied by a medical certificate which specifies the duration for which the special consideration is required.

Where the medical condition is ongoing, the medical certificate will need to be renewed every 12 months. Visitors must be made aware that the medical certificate may be verified with the issuing doctor or specialist.

A person is permitted to be in possession of, or carry drugs and/or an Epipen for medication purposes into a correctional centre if the medication is:

- contained in its original packaging, and is clearly labelled as prescribed to the person carrying it, or the medication is accompanied by a prescription made out to the person carrying it, or by a letter from the prescribing doctor
- stored securely in a vehicle or locker, for medications other than an Epipen
- in the case of an Epipen, retained by the authorised person, subject to inspection by staff on entry to and egress from the visits area.

Where an application for special medical consideration is approved, visitors are permitted leave the visits area to access their medication, provided they are rescreened prior to re-entry into the visit area. Correctional centres are required to review all approved applications annually.

3.3 Procedures for special medical consideration

	Procedure Responsibility	
1.	Contact the medical practitioner to verify the medical Authorised office certificate.	
2.	Consider visitor application for approval and return to visits area to be recorded. Governor	
3.	Access Authorised Visitors module in OIMS: access the Visitor Restrictions screen of the Authorised Visitor under 'Restriction Type' choose 'Governor's restriction' in 'Summary Text' note the approval of the application along with the expiry date.	Authorised officer
4.	Place the original application in a file at the visits area.	Authorised officer
5.	Notify the applicant of the decision made by the Governor.	Authorised officer
6.	Forward a copy of the application and the original medical certificate to the applicant as soon as practicable.	Authorised officer

3.4 Visiting hours and duration

Visiting hours and duration of visits are at the discretion of the Governor of the correctional centre and subject to any minimum requirements provided in the *Crimes* (Administration of Sentences) Regulation 2014.

The Governor must ensure that inmate visits are for the duration of the advertised times, except in circumstances where safety and security of the correctional centre prevent this.

3.5 Clothing worn by inmates

Where inmates are routinely body-scanned with low-dose X-ray body scanners after contact visits, they may be permitted by the Governor to wear standard correctional centre clothing during contact visits.

Where body scanners are not used, during contact visits all inmates in maximum and medium security correctional centres must wear overalls without pockets, zippered and secured at the back. Inmates are required to wear underpants underneath the overalls during a visit. Boxer shorts are not permitted except for medical reasons, documented by a medical certificate issued by the Visiting Medical Officer (VMO). Inmates must be supervised when exchanging their clothing for visit overalls. The overalls are to be checked for damage and/or serviceability before and after each visit.

Inmates in minimum security centres are not required to wear overalls, and may wear their standard correctional centre clothing on a visit whether body-scanners are used or not.

3.6 Dress standards for visitors

Visitors must dress in a manner appropriate to a family environment, meaning that clothing must be respectable and not provocative. Visitors are also not allowed to wear items of significant value, or items that could obscure their identity or be considered a possible risk to security.

Inappropriate dress includes:

- Clothes that have possibly controversial logos, words or slogans such as:
 - o motorcycle gang 'colours' or insignias
 - o logos or symbols associated with drugs or drug paraphernalia
 - swear words
- Tight or revealing clothing including:
 - o tops or dresses that expose the stomach or chest
 - o swimsuits
 - skirts or shorts above the mid-thigh
 - mesh or other see-through clothes
- Clothes that are excessively ripped or frayed
- Heels higher than 5cm
- Any jewellery other than a plain wedding band, sleepers or studs. This means no rings with stones or gems, and no bracelets or necklaces
- Tops or jumpers with a hood
- Hats, scarves or head coverings (except religious headwear)
- Hair scrunchies or clips only single elasticated hair ties are allowed
- Watches, smart watches or activity trackers
- Bare feet.

Only the Governor or delegate (MOS or FM) has the authority to refuse a visit on the basis of inappropriate dress. In extenuating circumstances, the Governor or delegate may allow the visit to proceed, and issue a suitable warning to the visitor regarding dress standards for future visits.

3.7 Procedures for visitors arriving in inappropriate dress

	Procedure Responsibility	
1.	Speak with the visitor privately, explain why their clothing is considered inappropriate, and offer them the opportunity to change or adjust their clothing.	
2.	If the visitor is unable or unwilling to do so, contact the Governor, MOS or FM to ask them to decide whether the visitor will be admitted.	
3.	Either attend the location where the visitor is waiting, or make a decision via telephone on the information supplied by the OIC. Governor, MOS or FM	
4.	Depending on the decision of the Governor, MOS or FM, either: • explain to the visitor why they are not being admitted; or • allow the visit to take place after explaining to the visitor the dress requirements for any future visit.	
5.	Make a note of the incident in the <i>Visitor Log</i> and submit an Officer Report Form for record keeping. If the visit has been cancelled, note this in the OIMS <i>Visit Schedule</i> screen	

3.8 Disposal of food following visits

Items of food and drink not consumed during a visit are to be disposed of prior to the inmate leaving the visit area. No food or drink can be taken back to the inmate's accommodation unit.

4 Visits to inmates in police or court cells

4.1 Policy

Most police and court cells managed by CSNSW are not physically suitable for family visits. In addition, there are other constraints that would preclude family visits including; court attendance, security, and staff supervision.

Family members and friends are not permitted to visit inmates while in the Court's custody.

The only exceptions to this are:

- An initial visit for fresh custody inmates at 24 hour Cell Complexes located in country regions at the discretion of the OIC
- Where a large substantial bail undertaking is involved. These may be permitted at the discretion of the OIC and the visit must be in the presence of the legal representative and/or interpreter.

4.2 Procedures

The OIC of the police/court cell complex may approve a visit when:

- there are adequate and secure facilities
- there is sufficient supervisory personnel
- the operations of the cells would not be adversely affected
- the visitors are scanned with a metal detector.
- the same policies and procedures apply to a family visit in a police or court cell as they do in a correctional centre.

If these conditions cannot be met, then the visit must not be approved.

5 Quick links

- Related COPP
- Forms and annexures
- Related documents

6 Definitions

Authorised officer	The officer authorised by the Governor to perform the functions prescribed as part of the Custodial Operations Policy and Procedures.
BID	Biometric Identification Device
COPP	Custodial Operations Policy and Procedures
CRI	Criminal Record Inquiry
CSNSW	Corrective Services NSW
EHRR	Extreme High Risk Restricted
EHS	Extreme High Security
FM	Functional Manager
IRM	Incident Reporting Module
JH&FMHN	Justice Health and Forensic Mental Health Network
LOP	Local Operating Procedure
MOS	Manager of Security
NSI	National Security Interest
OIC	Officer in Charge
OIMS	Offender Integrated Management System
RMS	Roads and Maritime Services
SAPO	Services and Programs Officer
VIN	Visitor identification Number
VMO	Visiting Medical Officer
-	

7 Document information

Business	s centre:	Custodial Operations	
Approver:		Kevin Corcoran	
Date of effect:		16 December 2017	
EDRMS (container:	18/7276	
Version	Date	Reason for amendment	
1.0		Initial publication (Replaces section 15.4,15.6,15.8,15.9 and 15.10 of the Superseded Operations Procedures Manual)	
1.1	02/08/19	Amendment to Policy summary and 2.1 Allocation of VIN	
1.2	21/01/20	Update regarding the circumstances when family members and friends are permitted to visit inmates while in custody, see [4.1] .	
1.3	12/03/20	General formatting update and improvements	
1.4	17/08/20	Addition at 2.3 <i>Biometric identification device</i> regarding enrolment of child visitors on the BID.	
1.5	16/11/20	Update of 3.6 <i>Dress standards for visitors</i> , and addition of 3.7 <i>Procedures for visitors arriving in inappropriate dress</i> .	
1.6	17/03/21	Update of 2.1 <i>Initial identification requirements</i> , requiring photo identification and proof of current address to be provided.	
1.7	14/05/21	Update at 3.5 <i>Clothing worn by inmates</i> for the Governor to allow maximum and medium security inmates to wear standard issue clothing during visits where body scanners are routinely used.	
1.8	16/12/22	Amendments at 1.1 <i>Policy</i> and 2.7 <i>Procedures for visits to correctional centres</i> to clarify that body scanning is to be used instead of strip searching wherever practicable.	
		Refer to Deputy Commissioners memorandum 2022/05 Use of body scanners in preference to strip searches.	
1.9	27/02/23	Addition in 2.1 <i>Initial identification requirements</i> to include NSW Digital Driver Licence.	
		Refer to Deputy Commissioners memorandum 2023/03 <i>NSW</i> Digital Drivers Licence launch reminder.	
1.10	24/05/23	Amendment to subsection 3.5 <i>Clothing worn by inmates</i> to clarify existing policy (see COPP section 17.5 <i>Body scanning</i>) that where inmates are routinely body-scanned with low-dose X-ray body scanners after contact visits, they may be permitted by the Governor to wear standard correctional centre clothing during contact visits.	